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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/DECISiON BELOW 

Timothy Edward Chenault requests this Comi grant review 

pursuant to RAP 13.4 of the unpublished decision of the Court of 

Appeals in State v. Chenault, No. 44203-5-IT, tiled January 27, 2015. 

A copy of the opinion is attached as an appendix. 

B. iSSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Expe1i testimony established that the complaining witness's 

behavior on the day of the incident could not be fully explained by her 

ingestion of drugs or alcohol and could instead have been due to a 

mentall1ealth disorder. Evidence of her mental health disorder was 

relevant to Mr. Chenault's defense that he did not know she lacked 

capacity to consent to sexual intercourse. Does the Court of Appeals' 

opinion affirming the trial court's decision to exclude the evidence 

present a significant question regarding Mr. Chenault's constitutional 

right to present a defense, warranting review? RAP 13.4(b)(3) 

2. Juror 12 violated the trial court's warning not to do any 

research on the intemet but the trial court denied Mr. Chenault's 

motion for a mistrial. Does the CoUli of Appeals' opinion aftirming the 

trial cou1i present a significant question of law concerning Mr. 

Chenault's constitutional light to a fair jury verdict? RAP 13.4(b)(3) 
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3. Does the prosecutor's misconduct during closing argument 

\Varrant review? 

4. Did numerous trial etTors cumulatively deny Mr. Chenault a 

fair trial? 

5. The trial court ordered Mr. Chenault to pay substantial 

discretionary costs without inquiring into his financial condition or his 

present or future ability to pay the LFOs. Did the trial court violate 

RCW 1 0.01.160(3), which prohibits a court from imposing LFOs 

"unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them''? 

6. Did Mr. Chenault receive ineffective assistance of counsel 

due to his attorney's failure to move to exclude prejudicial evidence? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In the early evening of a day in July 2010, Timothy Chenault 

encountered 17-year-old J.D. and her friend Damien in a wooded area 

near Mr. Chenault's home in Vancouver. RP 1149, 1158. Although 

Mr. Chenault had never met J.D. before, she and Damien invited him to 

hang out with them. RP 1158, 1171. 

J.D. appeared tipsy to Mr. Chenault but she was not stumbling 

and was apparently able to walk and talk nom1ally. RP 1161, 1186. 

After some time passed and Damien left the area, J.D. stmied kissing 
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Mr. Chenault. RP 1164. She eventually put his hand down her pants, 

led him to the ground, opened her pants, and the two had sexual 

intercourse. RP 1165-70. 

Mr. Chenault never thought J.D. was unable to consent to sexual 

intercourse. RP 1179. Although she appeared to be under the 

influence of alcohol or drugs, she was still able to function nom1ally. 

RP 1178. Her words and actions led him to believe she was freely 

consenting to sex. RP 1184. Later, though, Mr. Chenault was charged 

with second degree rape. CP 5. The State alleged he had sexual 

intercourse with J.D. when she "was incapable of consent by reason of 

being physically helpless or mentally incapacitated," RCW 

9A.44.050(1 )(b). CP 5. 

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to admit evidence of J.D.'s 

history of mental health problems. CP I 02, 114; RP ll 0-12, 123, 290, 

439,445-46,697-98, 701,711,748, 1000-06. J.D. had a history of 

mental health problems, including self-mutilation and multiple suicide 

attempts. CP 115-16. She had undergone periods of inpatient 

psychiatric treatment both before and after the present incident. CP 

l 03. She had been diagnosed with depression and anxiety and had 

been prescribed medications to treat those conditions. CP 103 . 

..., 
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A forensic psychologist concluded that J.D.'s behavior, 

including her repmted inability to move during the sexual assaults but 

her ability to move, talk and engage in flirtatious behavior at other 

times during the relevant time period, as well as her ability to 

remember some of the events, could not be explained by the presence 

of drugs or alcohol in her system. The psychologist opined that 

"[.I.D.]'s behavior on the day of the alleged offense was likely 

influenced by mental health problems." CP 115-16. Counsel argued 

the evidence was relevant and admissible because it showed J.D.'s 

behavior was probably the result of her mental health disorder and had 

nothing to do with whether she had the ability to consent to sexual 

intercourse. RP 123. 

The court denied counsel's motions to admit evidence of J.D.'s 

mental health problems, reasoning J.D.'s mental health condition was 

not relevant to her ability to consent. RP 57, 127, 296, 439,445-46, 

699-700, 748, 1006-10. 

The jury was instructed on Mr. Chenault's defense that at the 

time he had sexual intercourse with J.D. he "reasonably believed that 

[she] \vas not mentally incapacitated or physically helpless." CP 60. 

The jury found Mr. Chenault guilty of second degree rape. CP 63. 
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The Court of Appeals affim1ed. Additional facts are set f01th in 

the relevant argument sections below. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. The trial court's decision to exclude evidence 
of J.D.'s mental health history violated Mr. 
Chenault's constitutional right to present a 
defense and confront his accuser 

A defendant's 1ight to contl·ont the witnesses against him is 

guaranteed by both the United States and the Washington 

Constitutions. Const. mi. 1, § 22; U.S. Canst. amend. VI. Also, the 

right to confront witnesses has long been recognized as essential to due 

process. Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 90S. Ct. 1038, 

35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); Const. art. I,§ 3; U.S. Const. amend. XIV. 

"The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in 

essence, the right to a fair oppo1iunity to defend against the State's 

accusations." Chambers, 410 U.S. at 294. A defendant's right to an 

opp01tunity to be heard in his defense includes the rights to examine 

witnesses against him and to offer testimony and is "basic in our 

system ofjurisprudence." Statev. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713,720,230 

P.3d 576 (2010) (citing Chambers, 410 U.S. at 294); Washington v. 

Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 23,87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L. Ed. 2d 1019 (1967). 
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Evidence that a defendant seeks to admit "must be of at least 

minimal relevance." Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720. But ifthe evidence is 

relevant, the evidence may be excluded only if the State shows the 

evidence is so prejudicial that it will disrupt the fairness of the fact­

finding process at trial. I d. 

Here. evidence of J.D.'s mental health problems was relevant to 

Mr. Chenault's defense~-and was therefore admissible at trial­

because the evidence was material to the two principal issues in the 

case: ( 1) whether J.D. had the capacity to consent to sexual intercourse 

and (2) whether Mr. Chenault reasonably believed she was not mentally 

incapacitated or physically helpless. 

Expert testimony unden11ined the State's theory that J.D.'s 

behavior was caused by her consumption of alcohol. Dr. Julien 

testified that when J.D. encountered Mr. Chenault. her BAC must have 

been only about .08. RP 1331. Even the State's expert agreed J.D.'s 

maximum BAC would have been only about .165. RP 670. Only 

trace, inactive, amounts of drugs were found in her urine, which would 

have had no effect on her behavior at that time. RP 644-45, 1307-08. 

Dr. Julien fm1her testified that J.D.'s reported behavior of being 

unable to move while still being conscious and able to form new 
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memories, and her intermittent Joss of consciousness, could not be 

caused by the ingestion of any substance. RP 1297-98. Dr. McNeal 

opined that J.D.'s behavior was likely caused by her mental health 

problems and not by the ingestion of alcohol. CP 114. Yet Mr. 

Chenault \vas not permitted to present evidence about the nature of 

J.D.'s mental health issues or how they could have influenced her 

behavior and mental capacity. 

Ajury may find an individual is "mentally incapacitated" for 

purposes of the statute if it finds she '\vas incapable of appraising the 

nature of 'sexual intercourse' specifically." State v. Ottcga-Martinez, 

124 Wn.2d 702,710.881 P.2d 231 (1994). "A finding that a person is 

mentally incapacitated for the purposes ofRCW 9A.44.010(4) is 

approp1iute where the jury finds the victim had a condition which 

prevented him or her from meaningfillzv understanding the nature or 

consequences of sexual intercourse.'' I d. at 711. 

The nature of the complaining witness's "condition" that 

supposedly caused the "mental incapacity" is relevant to the 

detennination of whether the condition in fact resulted in a lack of 

capacity to meaningfully understand the nature or consequences of 

sexual intercourse. Given the equivocal evidence of J.D.'s level of 

- 7 -



intoxication and whether it led to an incapacity to consent, Mr. 

Chenault should have been permitted to present evidence to the jury 

regarding the nature of her mental health condition and whether it 

affected her ability to consent. 

Likewise, J.D.'s mental health condition was relevant to Mr. 

Chenault's defense that he reasonably believed she had the capacity to 

consent because it is reasonable to conclude that J.D. did not appear to 

be mentally incapacitated due to intoxication. Whether or not she was 

suffering from some other "condition" is relevant to the determination 

of whether she reasonably appeared to be incapacitated. 

Because the evidence was relevant and its exclusion violated 

Mr. Chenaulfs constitutional rights to present a defense and confront 

his accuser, this Court should grant review and reverse the conviction. 

2. Mr. Chenault's constitutional right to a fair 
jury trial was violated when the trial court 
denied the motion for a mistrial fol1owing 
juror misconduct 

During trial, Juror 12 told the bailiff he had conducted research 

about the role of a jury foreman on the intemet. R.P 1125. Defense 

counsel moved for a mistrial, as this was a direct violation of tbc 

court's repeated admonishments to the jury not to conduct outside 

research. RP 1127. The court acknowledged the juror committed 

- 8 -



misconduct but denied the motion for a mistrial, finding the misconduct 

was "harmless.'' RP 1133-34. 

A criminal defendant's right to trial by an impartial jury is 

guaranteed the by the federal and state constitutions. U.S. Const. 

amend. VI; Const. art I,§§ 21, 22. In addition, a criminal defendant's 

right to due process also guarantees the right to a fundamentally fair 

jury trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; Wash. Const. m1. I, §§ 3, 22; Smith 

v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 217, I 02 S. Ct. 940, 71 L. Ed. 2d 78 (1982) 

(the right to due process encompasses the right to a jury capable and 

willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it). 

Where a juror considers extrinsic evidence during the 

deliberation process, the juror commits misconduct and the defendant's 

constitutional right to trial by a fair and impm1ial jury is compromised. 

State v. Pete, \52 Wn.2d 152 Wn.2d 546, 552, 98 P.3d R03 (2004). 

Extrinsic evidence is "information that is outside all the evidence 

admitted at trial." Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 59 Wn. App. 

266,270,796 P.2d 737 (1990). Consideration of any material by ajury 

not properly admitted as evidence vitiates a verdict when there is a 

reasonable ground to believe that the defendant may have bene 

prejudiced. Pete, 152 Wn.2d at 555 n. 4. It is the State's burden to 
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prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there is no reasonable ground to 

believe the verdict was affected. State v. Btiggs. 55 Wn. App. 44, 56, 

776 P.2d 1347 ( 1989). 

Here, juror number 12 unequivocally engaged in misconduct. 

The juror ignored the comt's repeated instructions not to engage in 

outside research. The State cannot prove beyond a reasonable doubt 

that the juror's consideration of outside information, and his 

demonstrated inability to follow the co uti's instructions, did not affect 

the verdict. This Court should grant review and reverse the conviction. 

3. The prosecutor engaged in prejudicial 
misconduct by referring to facts not in 
evidence during closing argument 

In closing argument, the deputy prosecutor referred to facts not 

in t:vidence and misstated the testimony when she asserted that a 

witness testified he saw a "black man" walk through the area that day, 

"drinking the exact beer the Defendant said he was drinking on the 

stand." RP 1440. The prosecutor further stated 

T would like you to note that. He said he saw him, he 
had an Earthquake beer in his hand. which is exactly 
what the Defendant said he had. And he said that he, he 
walked over to [J.D.], who was passed out on this chair, 
and put it up to her mouth and tried to give it to her, even 
though this girl was basically unresponsive, and he 
[Cameron] said, "Hey, dude, get out of here." 
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RP 1440. 

Defense counsel objected that the prosecutor refelTed to facts 

not in evidence when she stated that Mr. Chenault gave J.D. alcohol 

and when she stated that Mr. Chenault testified he was drinking 

"Ea1ihquake" beer. RP 1463-65, 14 70. In fact, the State never alleged 

Mr. Chenault prov1ded J.D. with any kind of intoxicating substance. 

RP 1471. Counsel moved for a mistrial, which the cou11 denied. RP 

1471-72. 

Although a prosecutor has wide latitude to argue inferences 

from the evidence. a prosecutor commits reversible misconduct by 

urging the jury to decide a case based on evidence outside the record. 

State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533,553,280 P.3d 1158 (2012). This 

rule is closely related to the rule against pure appeals to passion and 

prejudice because appeals to the jury's passion and prejudice are often 

based on matters outside the record. Id. 

To establish reversible prosecutorial misconduct based on 

comments made during closing argument, the defendant must show the 

comments were improper and resulted in prejudice that had a 

substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. State v. Emery, 174 

Wn.2d 741,759-61,278 P.3d 653 (2012). 
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Here, the prosecutor's remarks were plainly improper. Contrary 

to the prosecutor's assettions, Mr. Chenault never testified he was 

drinking ''Earthquake" beer. Much more troubling was the 

prosecutor's statement that Mr. Chenault tried to provide J.D. with 

alcohol. From the beginning of the police investigation until the end of 

trial, the State repeatedly assured the defense that it was not alleging 

that Mr. Chenault ever supplied any intoxicating substance to J.D. See 

RP 313-14, 210, 265, 355. 

Because the comments were improper and likely affected the 

verdict, this Court should grant review and reverse the conviction. 

4. The cumulative effect of several trial errors 
deprived Mr. Chenault of a fair trial 

Under the cumulative en·or doctrine, reversal is required when 

there have been several trial eiTors that standing alone may not be 

sufficient to justify reversal but when combined have denied a 

defendant a fair trial. See, e.g., State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 772, 789, 684 

P.2d 668 ( 1984); State v. Badda, 63 Wn.2d 176, 183, 385 P.2d 859 

( 1963) (three instructional errors and the prosecutor's remarks during 

voir dire required reversal); State v. Alexander, 64 Wn. App. 147, 158, 

822 P.2d 1250 (1992) (reversal required because (1) a witness 

impermissibly suggested the victim's story was consistent and truthful, 
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(2) the prosecutor impermissibly elicited the defendant's identity from 

the victim's mother, and (3) the prosecutor repeatedly attempted to 

introduce inadmissible testimony during the trial and in closingL State 

v. Whalen, I Wn. App. 785, 804,464 P.2d 730 (1970) (reversing 

conviction because of ( 1) comi's severe rebuke of defendant's attorney 

in presence ofjury, (2) couii's refusal of the testimony of the 

defendant's wife, and (3) jury listening to tape recording of lineup in 

the absence of comi and counsel). 

Here, even if the above trial en-ors do not individually require 

reversal, when combined, they cumulatively denied Mr. Chenault a fair 

tlial and reversal is therefore wan-anted. 

5. This Court should grant review because the 
trial court's LFO order is not authorized by 
statute and the challenge is ripe for review 1 

Without inquiring into Mr. Chenault's present or future ability 

to pay court costs, or his actual financial condition, the court imposed 

several discretionary costs. CP 69. The judgment and sentence 

included the following boilerplate finding: 

The com1 has considered the total amount owing, the 
defendant's past, present, and future ability to pay legal 

1 A similar issue is cuncntly pending in this Court in .Sm!~ 
Blazina, No. 89028-5. 
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financial obligations, including the defendant's financial 
resources and the likelihood that the defendant's status 
will change. 

CP 66. The court's finding, and the imposition of non-mandatory 

costs. must be stricken because the record does not support the finding 

that Mr. Chenault had the ability to pay them. 

Comts are authorized by statute to order convicted defendants to 

pay costs. RCW 10.0 1.160( 1 ). Costs are limited to ''expenses 

specially incurred by the state in prosecuting the defendant." RCW 

10.01.160(2). But a coutt may not order an offender to pay costs 

''unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them." RCW 

10.0 1.160( 3). In detem1ining the amount of costs to impose. "the cou1t 

shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the 

nature and burden that payment of costs will impose." I d. 

It is constitutionally pem1issihle to order a convicted defendant 

to pay the costs of cou11-appointed counsel only if: (1) repayment is not 

mandatory; (2) the defendant has the present or future ability to pay; (3) 

the financial resources of the defendant are taken into account; and ( 4) 

repayment is not ordered if it appears there is no like! ihood that the 

defendant's indigency will end. State v. Cuny, 118 Wn.2d 911,915-

16. 829 P.2d 166 (1992). 
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The record here does not show the trial court in fact considered 

Mr. Chenault's ability or future ability to pay before it imposed LFOs. 

Because such consideration is statutorily required, the ttial couti 's 

imposition of LFOs was eiToneous. 

The only part of the record that even remotely suggests the trial 

court complied with RCW 10.01.160(3) is the boilerplate finding in the 

judgment and sentence. CP 66. But this finding does not establish 

compli<:mcc with RCW lO.Ol.l60(3)'s requirements. 

A boilerplate finding, standing alone, is antithetical to the notion 

of individualized consideration of specitic circumstances. S~~. ~.g., In 

re Dependency ofK.N.J., 171 Wn.2d 568,257 P.3d 522 (2011) 

(concluding boilerplate finding alone was insufficient to show trial 

couti gave independent consideration of necessary facts); Hardman v. 

Barnhati, 362 F.3d 676, 679 (1Oth Cir. 2004) (explaining boilerplate 

findings in absence of more thorough analysis did not establish trial 

coutt conducted an individualized consideration of witness credibility). 

In sum. the record fails to establish the trial court actually took 

into account Mr. Chenault's financial circumstances before imposing 

LFOs. As such, it did not comply with the authorizing statute. Thus, 
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this Comi should grant review, reverse the Couti of Appeals, and 

vacate the order. 

The Court of Appeals' conclusion that the issue is not ripe 

because the State has not yet attempted to collect the costs is eiToneous 

because it fails to distinguish between an LFO challenge based on 

tinancial hardship (arguably not ripe) and a challenge attacking the 

legality of the order based on statutory non-compliance (ripe). 

Although a line of cases hold that the relevant or meaningful 

time to challenge an LFO order is after the State seeks to enforce it, 

these cases are distinguishable because they address challenges based 

on an assettion of financial hardship or on procedural due process 

principles that arise in regard to collection.2 By contrast, this case 

involves a direct challenge to the legal validity of the order on the 

ground the trial cou1i failed to comply with RCW 10.01.160(3). 

2 See, ~, Lundy, 176 W n. App. at I 09 (holding "any challenge to 
the order requiring payment of legal financial obligations on hardship 
grounds is not yet ripe for review" until the State attempts to collect) 
(emphasis added); State v. Ziegenfuss, 118 Wn. App. 110, 74 P.3d 1205 
(2003) (dctcnnining defendant's constitutional challenge to the LFO 
violation process was not 1ipc for review until the State attempted to 
enforce the LFO order); State v. Phillips, 65 Wn. App. 239, 243-44, 828 
P .2d 42 (1992) (holding defendant's constitutional objection to LFO order 
based on fact of his indigence was not ripe until State sought to enforce 
the order); Stare v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 310, 818 P.2d 1116 (1991) 
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A claim is fit for judicial determination if the issues raised are 

primarily legal, do not require ftn1her financial development, and the 

challenged action is final. State v. Bah!, 164 Wn.2d 739, 751, 193 P.3d 

678 (2008). Additionally, reviewing com1s must take into account the 

hardship to the pm1ies of withholding com1 consideration. I d. 

First, the issue raised here is primarily legal. Neither time nor 

future circumstances pe11aining to enforcement will change \vhether the 

trial cour1 complied with RCW 10.01.160 prior to issuing the order. 

Thus, Mr. Chenault meets the first prong of the ripeness test. State v. 

Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782,788,239 P.3d 1059 (2010). 

Second, no further factual development is necessary. As 

explained already, Mr. Chenault is challenging the trial cow1's failure 

to comply with RCW I 0.0 1.160(3). Tbe facts necessary to decide this 

issue are fully developed. 

Third, the challenged action is final. Once LFOs are ordered, 

that order is not subject to change. The fact that the defendant may 

later seek to modify the LFO order through the remission process does 

not change the finality of the trial court's original sentencing order. 

(concluding meaningful time to review a constitutional challenge to LFO 
order on financial hardship grounds was when State enforces the order). 
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Next, withholding consideration of an erroneously entered LFO 

places signiticant hardships on a defendant due to its immediate 

consequences and the burdens of the remission process. An LFO order 

imposes an immediate debt upon a defendant and non payment may 

subject him to aiTest. RCW 10.0 1.180. Additionally, upon entry ofthe 

judgment and sentence, he is liable for that debt which begins accruing 

interest immediately. RCW I 0.82.090. 

Withholding appellate court consideration of an etToneous LFO 

order means the only recourse available to a person who has been 

erroneously burdened with LFOs is the remission process. But reliance 

on the remission process to conect the error imposes its own hardships. 

First, during the remission process, the defendant is saddled 

with a burden he would not othenvise have to bear. During sentencing, 

it is the State's burden to establish the defendant's ability to pay p1ior 

to the trial comt imposing any LFOs. Lundy, 176 Wn. App. at I 06. 

The defendant is not required to disprove this. See,~. State v. Ford, 

13 7 \Vn.2d 472, 482, 973 P.2d 472 ( 1999) (stating the defendant is "not 

obligated to disprove the State's position" at sentencing where it has 

not met its burden of proof). If the LFO order is not reviewed on direct 

appeal and is left for conection through the remission process, the 
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burden shifts to the defendant to show a manifest hardship. RCW 

10.01.160(4). Pem1itting an offender to challenge the validity of the 

order on direct appeal ensures that the burden remains on the State. 

Second, an offender who is left to fight erroneously ordered 

LFOs through the remission process will have to do so without 

appointed counsel. State v. Mahone, 98 Wn. App. 342, 346, 989 P.2d 

583 (1999) (recognizing an o±Iendcr is not entitled to publicly funded 

counsel to file a motion for remission). Given the petitioner's financial 

hardships, he will be unlikely to retain private counsel and, therefore, 

will have to litigate the issue pro se. 

Finally, reviewing the validity ofLFO orders on direct appeal, 

rather than waiting for the State to attempt collection and then 

remedying the problem during the remission process, serves an 

impmtant public policy by helping conserve financial resources that 

will otherwise be wasted by efforts to collect from individuals who will 

likely never be able to pay. See State v. Hathaway, 161 Wn. App. 634, 

651-52, 25 I P.3d 253 (2011) (reviewing the propriety of an order that 

the defendant pay a jury demand fee because it involved a purely It: gal 

question and would likely save future judicial resources). Allowing the 
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matter to be addressed on direct appeal will emphasize the impmiance 

of unde1taking the necessary factual consideration in the first place. 

For these reasons, Mr. Chenault's challenge to the legal validity 

of the LFO order is ripe. 

6. Mr. Chenault received ineffective assistance of 
counsel due to his attorney's failure to move to 
exclude overly prejudicial evidence 

A defendant receives ineffective assistance of counsel waiTanting 

reversal ifhc can show (1) counsel's perfonnance was deficient and (2) 

the defendant perfonnance prejudiced the defendant. Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668,687, 104 S. Ct. 2052,80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); 

U.S. Canst. amend. VI. 

Here, counsel provided ineffective assistance, prejudicing Mr. 

Chenault, because he did not attempt to have pictures that the police took 

of J.D.'s cell phone excluded from evidence. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Because the Court of Appeals' opinion presents signiticant issues 

of constitutional law, and the LFO order does not comply with the 

authorizing statute, this Court should accept review. 

Respectfully submitted thi:16th day of February, 2015. 

-( jia_{A_ ·· L-2~ ;l•( ~ {~11 
MAUREEN M. CYR (WSBA 287f4f 
Washington Appellate Project - 91052 
Attorneys for Appe1lant 
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FACTS 

On July 23, 2010, 17-year old J.A.1 left her house in Vancouver and walke_d to the r.earby 

grocery store. She met some friends, Cameron Fierro Walmsley and Damien Kennison.2 They· 

walked from the grocery store to a gas station to find someone to purchase alcohol for them. Fierro 

Walmsley's friend, Sergio Tertofsky, was at the gas station and bought Fierro Wal11sley and J.A. 

some alcohoL J.A. got a 40-ounce can of Steel Reserve beer. J.A., Fierro Walmsley, Tertofsky, 

and Kennison went to a nearby wooded area ("the spot"). Cameron opened the can of Steel 

Reserve and J.A. drank almost the entire can immediately. J.A. got sick after drinking the beer. 

At some point during the evelling Chenault arrived at the spot with some beer. Over the next 

several hours, three men had sex with J.A.: Fierro Walmsley, Chenault, and Kennison. 

When J.A. did not return home for several hours, J.A.'s mother called the police. 

Vancouver Police Detective Dustin Nicholson called J.A. 's cell phone to try to contact her; 

eventually, the 911 dispatch Center vv·as able to use the Global Positioning System in J.A.'s cell 

phone to locate her at a nearby elementary sehool. When Nicholson arrived, J.A. was hysterical. 

Nicholson called for an ambula.'1ce and J.A. was transported to the hospital. 

At the hospital, a sexual assault nurse completed a rape kit. Nicholson took several pictures 

ofthe phone log and text messages on J.A.'s phone. He was going to take the phone as evidence, 

1 Because the victim was a minor at the time of the offense, we use her initials 'to protect her 
privacy. At the time of the offenses, the victim was known as J.D., but by the time of trial her 
initials had become J.A. 

2 Dam.ien Ke~ison's first name is spelled multiple ways in the trial record. 
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but J.A.'s mother asked if J.A. could keep it. Nicholson agreed. Later, J.A. deleted the data from 

her phone. 4 RP 467. 

Detective John Ringo was assigned to investigate J.A.'s sexual assault case. He 

interviewed Fierro Walmsley, Kennison, and Tertofsky. During the investigation, Kennison and 

Pierro Walmsley were able to identify Chenault as the other man who arrived at the spot. The 

State charged Chenault \Vith second degree rape based on J.A. being mentally incapacitated or 

physically helpless. 

Before trial, Chenault made a motion to get copies of J .A.'s mental health records. The · 

trial court agreed to review the records in camera to determine whether there was an:ril"ling 

contained in the records that would be relevant to Chenault's defense. After reviewing over 700 

pages of records in can1era, the trial court detennined that there was nothing of relevance in the 

records because none of the information contained in the records was related to the underlying 

fflr.tual allegation:; ofthe rape or indicated a condition that would affect .LA.'s ability to remember, 

recall, or relate events.3 

Chenault renewed his motion for J.A.'s mental health records or to admit evi.dence of her 

mental health history on numerous occasions. Every time Chenault brought up J.A.'s mental 

health records, the trial court reiterated its ruling that the records were irrelevant for numerous 

reasons. 

At trial, J.A. testified that there were significant portions of the evening that she could not 

remember, although she did remember Fieno Walmsley, Chenault, and Kennison having sex with 

3 After the in camera review of J.A. 's mer: tal health records, the trial court sealed the records and 
they are not pmt of the record on appeal. 
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her. She described he: condition for most of the evening as "the lights were on and nobody was 

home." 6 Report of Proceedings (RP) at 766. Hex arms and legs felt heavy like lead, and she 

didn't think she could move. Vlhen she testified specifically about Chenault, she stated she did 

not ask him to have sex with her and did not feel capable of participating in a sexual act. 

The State presented testimony from a toxicologist who testified that J.A.' s w-ine sample 

was negative for ethanol but contained acetone, zopiclone, and oxazepam. The toxicologist 

testified that J.A.'s peak blood alcohol level would have been approximately 0.165, then that level 

would decrease by 0.015 every hour. The toxicologist determined J.A.'s blood alcohol level by 

applying J.A.' s sex and body' weight, and the alcohol concentration of the Steel Reserve to the 

standardized formula for calculating blood alcohol levels. Chenault presented his own expert, Dr. 

Robert Julien. Dr. Julien agreed with the toxicologist's calculations of J.A.'s blood alcohol levels 

·on the night of th~ rape. Dr. Julien also testified that a person cru.mot have an alcohol induced 

blackoutif his or her blood alcoholle.vel is below 0.25. And, he testified thRt there was not il 

pharmacological explanation for' J.A.'s account of her condjt:on at the time-in other words, Dr. 

Julien opined that the ingestion of alcohol a."ld other drugs would not explain why she felt as though 

she could not move or speak, or why she only had isolated periods of memory. He testified that if 

a person is able to form memories he or she is conscious, alert, and active. 

Russell Barnes testified that he '"''as walking through the spot and saw Chenault ·with J.A. 

When he first saw them, he saw "a young little red head bouncing .on his lap, looked like a rag doll 

or something." 7 RP at 93 7. Then he saw Chenault push J .A. off of his lap and J.A. landed face 

first in the dirt, but she did not move or try to get up. Chenault looked at Barnes and said, "She's 

all fucked up." 7 RP at 938. Later, when he walked past the spot again, Barnes saw J.A. laying 

4 



No. 44203-5-Il 

on the chair while Chenault was pulling up his pants. Barnes heard J .A. trying to talk, but her 

speech was slurred and he couldn't understand her. 

Fierro Walmsley also testified at trial. He testified that J.A. became very sick after she 

drank the can of Steel Reserve and fell asleep after about 15-20 minutes. While Fierro Walmsley 

was there, "a black male" walked into the spot carrying an Earthquake beer.4 10 RP at 1356. The 

man walked up to J.A. and offered her the bee::, but J.A. was asleep. Fierro Walmsley told the 

man to leave. Then Fierro Walmsley left to go get J.A. some food and water.5 

Chenault also testified at trial. He testified that ween he first arrived at the spot, J.A. was 

flirting with Kennison. He thought that J.A. was a little "tipsy," .but she was not completely out 

of it. 9 RP at 1161. J.A. came over and sat on his lap. J.A. initiated sex oy kissing him. Then, 

J .A. Jed him to the ground, stood over him, and took her leg out of her pants. They had sex Virith 

J.A. on top of him. During the entire time he was with J.A. she \vas never unconscious. 

Before the trial concluded, the trial court notified the attorneys about a potential issue \Vith 

one of the juc:ors. Juror 12 had asked the )ailiffifthey were going to get jury instructions. Juror 

12's question was prorr:.pted by information that he had printed from the internet about serving on 

a j"..ll)'. The information related to the role o: the jury foreman and included information such as 

the jury foreman is respons:ble for making su:e that deliberations are conducted in a civilized 

manner and all the jurors' voices are heard and that the jury foreman asks the jurors to vote on the 

ve::dict and fills out the verdict form. The trial court questioned the juror with the attorneys present, 

4 Chenault is African-American. 

5 The trial court did not allow specific testimony about FielTO Walmsley having sex \Vith J.A. and 
limited Fierro Walmsley's testimony to J.A.'s condition around the time Chenault was with J.A. 
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and the juror stated that he had looked up the information because he had never served on a jury 

before, but that he had not done any research into anything else or any substantive issue on the 

case. The prosecutor had no objection to the juror staying on. Chenault moved for a mistrial or to 

have the juror replaced with the alternate. The trial court denied that motion for the mistrial 

becalise he felt the information the juror looked up was inconsequential. The trial cotu1 also 

declined to replace the juror vvith the alternate. 

During closing argument, the prosecutor argued that J .A.'s physical condition at the time 

Chenaulthad sex with her indicated that she \Vas unable to c.onsent. The prosecutor pointed out 

that Barnes's testimony established that Chenault saw J.A. fall on her face and not get up. Ar..d 

Fierro Walmsley's testimony established that Chenault knew she was, at least at one point, 

sleeping or unconscious. To that end, the prosecutor stated: 

Cameron Fierro [Walmsley] told you yesterday that the first time he saw the 
Defendant walk through that clearing, he had-~he didn't say he didn't know it 
was-he didn't know who it was at the time, vvas t.."'le only African American ::nale 
that walked through that circle that day, and he describes him as drinking the exact 
beer the Defendant said he was drinking on the stand, I would like you to note that. 
He said he saw him, he had an Earthquake beer in his hand, which is exactly what 
the Defendant said he had. And he said that he, he walked over to [J.A.], who was 
passed out on this chair, and put it up to her mouth and tried to give it to her, even 
though this girl was basically unresponsive, and he said, "Hey, dude, get out of 
here." 

11 RP at 1439-40. After the prosecutor's closing argument, the jury was dismissed for lunch. 

Then, Chenault objected to the prosecutor's statement: 

I guess I'm kind of-I'm definitely shocked and I'm extremely disappointed that 
[the prosecutor) would put into issue a fact that wasn't even test:.fied to in the trial. 
She just told the jury that my client gave this girl alcohol. That, that was her 
argument :.U front ofthe jury-

6 
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11 RP at 1463. The trial court disagreed with Chenault's characterization and stated that it believed 

that the prosecutor argued that Chenault offered J.A. beer, not that J.A. took or consumed any of 

it. 

Chenault also objected based on :he fact that Chenault never testified that he had an 

Earthquake beer. The trial court ruled: ''Well, you can argue that to the jury and the jury will rely 

on their collective memories and notes-" 11 RP at 1470. Chenault asked for a mistrial. The trial 

co crt denied the motion. In her rebuttal argument, the prosecutor made sure to clarify that she ·was 

not arguing that Chenault ever gave J.A. any alcohol. 

The jury found Chenault guilty of second degree rape. At sentencing, the 'trial court 

imposed a standard range sentence and imposed legal financial obligations. The trial court did not 

mark the box on the judgment and sentence stating that the defendant had the present or likely 

future ability to pay legal financial obligations. Chenault appeals. 

A_NA.l.YSIS 

A. EVJDENCE OF J.A. 'S ~1ENTAL HEALTH HISTORY 

We review a trial court's decision to exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion. State v. 

Lord, 161 Wn.2d 276, 294, 165 P.3d 1251 (2007). A trial court abuses its discretion when its 

decision is based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. Lord, 161 Wn.2d at 283-84. 

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to present evidence in their own defense. Srate v. 

Hawkins, 157 Wn. App. 739, 750,238 P.3d 1226 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1013 (2011). 

But, the evidence must be relevant; there is no constitutional right to present irrelevant evidence. 

Lord, 161 Wn.2d at 294. Relevant evjdence is "evidence having any tendency to make the 
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existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action mo:::e probable or 

:ess probable than it would be Vlrithout the evide:1ce." ER 401. 

To convict Chenault of second degree rape, the State had to prove that Chenault engaged 

in sexual intercourse with J.A. \Vhen J.A. was "incapable of consent by reason of being physically 

helpless or mentally incapacitated." RCW 9A.44.050(1)(b). Both "mental incapacity" and 

"physically helpless" are statutorily defined. "Mental incapacity" means: 

that condition existing at the time of the offense which prevents a person from 
understanding the nature or consequences of the act of sexual intercourse whether 
that condition is produced by illness, defect, the influence of a substance or from 
some other cause. 

RCW 9A.44.010(4). And, "physically helpless" means: 

a person who is unconscious or for any other reason is physically unable to 
communicate unwHlingr.ess to an act. 

RCW 9A.44.01 0(5). It is a defense to second degree rape based on mental incapacity or physical 

helplessness if the defendflnt proves hy a preponderance ofthe evidence "that at the time CJfthe 

offense the defendant reasonably believed that the victim was not mectally incapacitated and/or 

physically helpless." RCW 9A.44.030(1). 

Chenault argues that he was denied his right to present a defense because the trial court 

excluded evidence of J.A. 's mental health history. It appears that Chenault is making two separate 

arguments. First, he is arguing that ~he evidence regarding J.A. 's mental health history v,'as 

relevant because it was an altemative explanation fo: her condition on the night of the rape. 

Second, he is arguing that it was relevant to prove :Pis defense that he reasonably believed that she 

was capable of consent. Neither argument demonstrates that the trial court abused :ts discretion 

in excluding evidence of J.A. 's mental health history. Regardless of how Chenault attempts to 

8 
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I 
frame the issue, evidence of J .A.'s mental health history is iiTelevant, and the trial court did not 

' 

l 
abuse its discretion by excluding it. 

1. J .A.'s Mental Health as an Alternative Explanation 

Chenault argues that the evidence regarding J.A. 's mental health history was relevant 

because it provided an alternative explanation for her behavior. However, this argument is 

predicated on the assumption that the State is obligated to prove the underlying 'cause of J.A.'s 

mental incapacity or physical helplessness. The State argues that it is not obligated to prove the 

underlying cause of the victim's mental incapacity or physical helplessness. Therefore, an 

altemative explanation for J.A.'s condition at the time of the rape was irrelevant and properly 

excluded. Both parties poi.I:t out that the opposing party has failed to cite authority for their 

proposition-ar.d with good reason. It does not appear that there is any authority discussing 

whether the State has Ihe burden to prove the underlying cause of a victim's mental incapacity or 

physical helplessness. Based on the statutory language, v.:e hold that the State is not req1iired to 

prove the underlying cause of the victim's condition at the time of sexual intercourse. Therefore, 

J.A.'s mental health history was not relevant to Chenault's defense. 

Statutory interpretation is a question of law we review de novo. State v. Rice, 180 Wn. 

App. 308,313,320 P.3d 723 (2014) (citing State v. Franklin, 172 Wn.2d 831,835,263 P.3d 585 

(2011)). Our objective is to determine and give effect to the legislature's intent. Rice, 180 Wn. 

App. at 312. We give effect to the statute's plain lang-Jage when the meaning can be determined 

from the text. Rice, 180 Wn. App. at 313 (citing State v. Jones, 172 Wn.2d 236,242,257 P.3d 

616 (2009)). "If the statute is still susceptible to more than one interpretation after we conduct a 

plain meaning review, then the statute is ambiguous and we rely on statutory construction, 

. .I 
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legislative history, and relevant case law to determine legislative intent." Rice, 180 Wn. App. at 

313 (citing Jones, 172 Wn.2d at 242). 

Here, the statute focuses on the victim's condition at the time of the offense-not the 

underlying cause of the victim's condition. Although there are no cases directly stating this 

proposition, State v. Summers, 70 Wn. App. 424, 853 P.2d 953, review denied, 122 Wn.2d 1026 

(1993), provides some guidance. 

In Summe~s, Division One of this court determined that expert testimony was not required 

to prove a victim was mentally incapacitated. 70 Wn. App. at 431. The court held the victim's 

"testimony was direct evidence of her lack of capacity an~ demonstrated her inability to 

comprehend basic facts such as the time of day, much less the nature or consequences of sexual 

intercourse." Summers, 70 Wn. App. at 430. And, the court determined that there was suffic.ient 

evider_ce to prove that the victim did not understand the nature or consequences of sexual 

il1tercow:se based em her inahility to accurately describe sexual intercourse, her inability to explain 

the potential consequences of sexual intercourse, and her basic lack of understanding of nonsex'Ual 

matters such as the days of the week or how to tell time. Summers, 70 Wn. App. at 431-32. In its 

discussion of sufficiency of the evidence, the court .did not consider why the victim lacked the 

capacity to understand the nature of consequences of sexual intercourse. In fact, at no point does 

the court mention what the cause of the victim's mental incapacity was. 

Here, the S~ate presented J.A.'s testimony regarding her condition at the time of the rape. 

Her testimony in this regard is all the State was required to present to establish whether she was 

mentally incapacitated or physically helpless at the time of the rape. 

10 
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Chenault argues that J .A.'s mental health history is important because J .A.'s condition was 

not a permanent or organic condition such as a developmental disability. But the cause of a 

temporary condition that results in mentally incapacity or physical helplessness is no more relevant 

than the cause of a permanent or organic condition. For example, if the State presents evidence 

that a rape victim was laying on the ground unconscious at the time of the rape, it is obvious that 

the State would not have to prove how the victim becfl.."11e unconscious. The victim could_ have 

suffered a head injury, passed out from drugs or alcohol, gone into diabetic shock-the 

possibilities are both endless and irrelevant. The ot;Jly thing that would be relevant is whether the 

defendant had sexual intercourse with the unconscious victim. The same is true here, bow J.A. 

ended up in the condition in which Chenault found her is irrelevant, \Vhat matters is whether that 

condition resulted in mental incapacity or physical helplessness. 

Finally, Chenault apparently alleges that the evidence of J.A. 's mental health history is 

relevant to demonstrating an altemati've explanation for her overall behavior that night, rather than 

the specific condition in which Chenault found her. _There is evider.ce in the record suggesting 

that some of J.A. 's mental health records may show that she was engaging in self-destmctive and 

risk-taking behavior. However, such evidence is not only irrelevant, it is improper in a rape case. 

RCW 9A.44.020. Therefore, we consider any argument that evidence of J.A.'s mental health 

history should be adrrJssib:e to explain her overall behavior that eveningto be without merit. 

2. Chenault's Reasonable Belief 

Chenault also argues that J.A.'s mental health condition was relevant to presenting his 

affirmative defense that he reasonably believed that JA. was not mentally incapacitated or 

physically he~pless. Chenault does not explain how presenting evidence of J.A's mental health 

11 
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history would have any bearing on his defense that he reasonably believed J.A. was not mentally 

incapacitated or physically helpless. · 

Here, there were two accounts of J.A.'s behavior. J.A. and the ot"3er witnesses testified 

that she was 1n and out of consciousness, she was having trouble speaking coherently, she was 

falling down, she was vomiting, and at times she was generally unresponsive. In contrast, Chenault 

testified that, although it appeared J.A. had been drinking, she appeared to be function.i.L.g normally. 

Evidence of J.A.' s mental health history would not have changed eithe: of those accounts of J.A.'s 

behavior. Either the jury found J.A. and the other witnesses credible or they believed Chenault's 

account. Evidence of J.A.'s mental health history would not have made it more probable that 

Chenault's observations were accurate, nor would it make it less probable that the jury would find 

J.A.'s account, and the State's \\ri.tness, less credible. 

Chenault had no knowledge of .T.A.'s mental health history. Thus, J.A.'s mental health 

history could not have influenced how Chenault perceiYed her condition. Therefore, evidence of 

J .A.'s mental health history was irrelevant to Chenault's affirmative defense, and the trial court 

did not abuse its discretion in excluding it. 

B. JUROR MISCONDUCT 

We rev:ew a trial court's decision denying a motion for a mistrial based on juror 

misconduct for an abuse of discretion. State v. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 117, 866 P.2d 631 (1994). 

"A strong, affirmative showing . of misconduct is necessary in order to overcome the policy 

favoring stable and certain verdicts and the secret, frank, and free discussion of the evidence by 

the jury." Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at 117-18 (citing Richards v. Overlake Hosp. Med. Ctr., 59 Wn. 

I 
App. 266, 271-72, 796 P.2d 737 (1990), review denied, 116 Wn.2d 1014 (1991)). But, 
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consideration of novel or extrinsic evidence constitutes juror misconduct and can require a new 

trial. Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at 118. "'Novel or extrinsic evidence is defmed as information that is 

outside all the evidence admitted at trial, either orally or by document."' Balisok, 123 Wn.2d at 

118 (quoting Richards, 59 Wn. App. at 270). If there is evidence of juror misconduct, we presume 

the defendant is prejudiced. State v. Boling, 131 Wn. App. 329,332, 127 P.3d 740, review denied, 

158 Wn.2d 1011 (2006). However, if we conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the extrinsic 

evidence did not contribute to the verdict, we will not grant a new trial. State v. Briggs, 55 Wn. 

App. 44, 56, 776 P.2d 1347 (1989). . 

Here, juror 12 looked up some information on the internet regarding the role of a jury 

foreman and how a jury conducts deliberations. Although juror 12's conduct was improper, the 

trial court d:.d not abuse its discretion by denying Chenault's motion for a mistrial. The inform~tion 

juror 12 obtained 5.-om the ir:temet was not extrinsic evidence. The information that the juror 

obtained had no bearing on any factual determination the ju.ry '"'as required to collSider in this case. 

Nothing in the record indicates that the basic information regarding jury service that juror 12 found 

on the internet contributed to the verdict.6 We conchide beyond a reasonable doubt that that there 

6 \Ve would also note that after conducting the colloquy \\~th juror 12 the trial court stated: 

I want to make clear for the remainder portion of this trial, nothing, absolutely 
nothing are you to research, look up, even if it seems like a real collateral issue, 
like how does a jury foreman help lead deliberations like this sheet. I don't want 
you-Do not tell the jury why you--,-the remaining panel why you were brought in 
here. Don't share any information off of this sheet. I recognize it's pretty ldnd of 
basic, but still-

9 RP at 1131. 
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was no prejudice to Chenault, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Chenault's 

motion for a mistrial. 

C. PROSECUTORIAL MISCO:N1JCCT 

A defendant claiming prosecutorial misconduct bears the burden of demonstrating that the 

challenged conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. EmeiJI, 174 Wn.2d 741, 759-60, 

278 P.3d 653 · (2012). A prosecutor is allowed wide latitude in closing arguments to draw 

reasonable inferences from the facts in evidence and to express such inferences to the jury. State 

v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 860, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). However, the prosecutor's statements . . 

must be supported by the record. State v. Ramos, 164 Wn. App. 327,341,263 P.3d 1268 (2011). 

We review alleged misconduct ''\:vi.thin the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues 

in the case, the evidence discussed in the argument, and the jury instructions." State v. Dhaliwal, 

150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). We presume jurors follow the trial court's instructions. 

State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 84, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). 

Where, as here, the defendant objected at trial, he must demonstrate prejudice by showing 

"that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting 

the jury's verdict." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760. "The decision to deny a request fOr mistrial based 

upon alleged prosecutorial misconduct lies withln the sound discretion of the trial court, and it will 

not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 86. A trial comt abuses its 

discretion when its decision is based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. State v. Powell, 

126 Wn.2d244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995) . 

. Chenault's prosecutorial misconduct claim arises from one particular section of the 

prosecutor's closing argument: 
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Cameron Fierro [Walmsley] told you yesterday that the first time he saw the 
Defendant walk through that clearing, he had-he didn't say he didn't know it 
was-he didn't know who it was at the time, was the only African American male 
that walked through that circle that day, and he describes him as drinking the exact 
beer the Defendant said he was drinking on the stand, I would like you to note that. 
He said he saw him, he had an Earthquake beer in his hand, which is exactly what 
the Defendant said he had. And he said that he, he walked over to [J.A.}, who was 
passed out on this chair, and put it up to her mouth and tried to give it to her, even 
though this girl was basically unresponsive, and he said, "Hey, dude, get out of 
here." 

ll RP at 1439-40. Chenault raises two specific arguments based on the prosecutor's argument. 

first, he argues that the trial court should have granted his motion for a mistrial because the 

prosecutor referred to facts r:ot in the record by stating that Chenault testified that. he had an 

Earthquake beer the night oft:.'1e rape. Second, he argues that the trial court should have granted a 

mistrial because the prosecutor improperly implied that Chenault gave J.A. alcohol on the night of 

the rape. Both arguments :ack merit, and we affirm the trial comt' s decision to deny Chenault's 

mo:ion for a mistrial. 

1. Reference to Ea1thquake Beer 

The State concedes that the prosecutor's staterr.ent that Chenault testified regarding the 

brand of beer he had in his possession was not in the record. However, 'he State contends that the 

trial court did not abuse its discretion by cenying the motion for a mistrial because there was not 

a substantial likelihood that be prosecutor's misstatement affected the jury's verdict. 

At trial, Chenault did not dispute that he had beer with him when he went to the spot or 

that he had sex with J.A. The only disputes were whether J.A.'s condition rendered her incapable 

of consenting to sex and whether Chenault knew that J .A. was incapable of consenting to sex. 

Considering the issues in the case and the evidence presented at trial, the brand of beer Chenault 

had with him was a relatively trivial matter. There is not a substantial likelihood that the 
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prosecutor's misstatement affected the verdict; the trial court did not abuse its discretion by 

denying Chenault's motion for a mistrial. 

Moreover, the jury was specifically instructed that the la\\}'ers' statements were not 

evidence .. 1\.nd, the jury was instructed to "disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is 

not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions." CP at 44. We assume :hat the jury 

followed the trial court's instructions and disregard~d the prosecutor's misstatement regarding the 

brand ofbeer in Chenault's possession on the night of the rape. Thus, Chenault fails to meet his 

· burden to show that there is a substantial likelihood that that prosecutor's misstatement affected 

the jury's verdict. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Chenault's motion for a 

r..1istrial. 

2. Prosecutor's Implication that Chenault gave J.A. alcohol 

Chenault also argues that the trial court should have granted a mistrial because the 

prosecutor improperly implied that Chenault gave J.A. alcohol the night of the rape. He argues 

that the prosecutm's argtunent is not supported by the evidence. However, Chenault 

mischaracterizes the prosecutor's argument. The prosecutor's argument was an appropriate 

inference from Fierro Walms!ey's testimony; therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion 

by denying Chenault's motion for a mistrial. 

The prosecutor's argument was an accurate statement from Fierro Walmsley's testimony. 

Fierro Walmsley testified that before he left J .A. at the spot, he saw a black man come up and offer 

J.A. a beer. He then testified that J.A. did not take the beer because she was sleeping. The 

prosecutor did not state that Chenault actually gave J.A. the beer, and she did not state, or imply, 

that J.A. consumed any of it. Instead, she argued that Fierro Walmsley saw Chenault offer J .A. a 
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beer, and that J.A. did not take the beer because. she was unresponsive. The prosecutor's statements 

were not based on facts outside the record; the statements were an accurate recitation· of Fierro 

\Valmsley's testimony eombined with the reasonable inference that the black man Fierro 

referenced was Chenault. Accordingly, nothing in the prosecutor's argument was improper, and 

the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Chenault's motion for a mistrial. 7 

D. CUW.ULATIVE ERROR 

Chenault alleges that the cumulative error doctrine entitles him to relief because the 

combined effect of the alleged errors denied him a fair trial. "The cumulative error doctrine applies 

where a combination of trial errors denies the accused of a fair trial, even where any one of the 

errors, taken individually, would be hannless." In re Pers. Restraint of Cross, 180 Wn.2d 664, 

690, 327 P.3d 660 (2014). To support a cumulative error claim the appellant must demonstrate 

multiple errors. Cross, 180 Wn.2d at 690-91. 

Here, Chenault has identified a single enor-the prosecutor's misstatement regarding the 

brand of beer Ctenault had. Because there is only one error, the cumulative error doctrine does 

· not entitle Chenault to relief. 

7 And, we note that any potential prejudice from the prosecutor's statement was cured by the 
prosecutor's rebuttal argument. During rebuttal argument the prosecutor stated: "If for some 
reason it appeared that I was arguing to you that Timothy Chenault gave her alcohol, that is not 
the argument the State was attempting to make." ll RP at 1519. The prosecutor made it 
abundantly clear that she was not implying or arguing that Chenault gave J.A. any alcohol. The 
prosecutor's statements could not have affected the verdict because she clarified· them to ensure 
that there was no misunderstanding. Because the prosecutor specifically told the jury that she was 

. not in any way arguing that Chenault gave J.A. any alcohol, Chenault cannot meet his burden to 
show that there is a substantial likelihood that the prosecutor's comment could have affected the 
verdict. 
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E. LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIOKS 

Chenault claims that the trial cowt erred by imposing discretionary legal financial 

obligations v.rithout sufficient evidence to suppo11 a finding that Chenault has the present or future 

ability to pay. However, Chenault has overlooked the fact that the trial court did not make a fmding 

that Chenault has the present or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations. The trial 

court is not required to make a specific or formal finding regarding the defendant's present or 

jkely future ability to pay legal financial obligations. State v. Curry, 118 Wn.2d 911, 916, 829 

P.2d 166 (1992). 

Moreover, Chenault's claim is 'J.ltimately a claim that insufficient evidence supports a 

finding that Chenault has the present or likely future ability to pay legal financial obligations. A 

claim that the evidence is insufficient to support a fmding that a defendant has the present or' likely 

future ability to pay cannot be raised on the frrst time on appeal and is not ripe for review until the 

trial court attempts to collect payment on the legal financial obligations. State v. Blazina, 174 Wn. 

App. 906, 911,301 P.3d 492, review granted, 178 Wn.2d 1010 (2013); State v. Lundy, 176 Wn. 

App. 96, 108, 308 P.3d 755 (2013). Therefore, Chenault's claim fails. 

F. SAG -INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL 

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden to establish that (1) 

counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficient perfo1mance prejudiced the defendant. 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Failure 

to establish either prong is fatal to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Stricldand, 466 U.S. 
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at 700. Counsel's performance is deficient ifit falls below an objective sta.'1dard of reasonableness. 

State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668,705,940 P.2d 1239 (1997), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). 

A defendant is p:-ejudiced by counsel's deficient perfonnance if there is a reasonable probability 

that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the trial would have been different. 

Stenson, 132 Wn.2d at 705-q6. A legitimate trial tactic or strategy cannot be the basis for an 

ineffective assistance of counsel claim. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 33-34, 246 P.3d 1260 

(2011). 

Chenault alleges that his counsel was ineffective because his counsel did not attempt to 

have the pictures Nicholson took of J.A.'s cell phone excluded from evidence. But, defense 

counsel used the photos as part of a legitimate trial strategy. Defense counsel used the pictures of 

J.A.'s cell phone to demo:1strate that she was using her phone, checking voicemail, and text 

messaging during the period of time the State was alleging that J.A. v,ras unconscious or 

incapacitated. He argued that J.A. could not have been incapacitated because she was functioning 

well enough to use her phone at various times throughout the evening. Although the strategy was 

ultimately unsuccessful, it was a legitimate trial strategy. Therefore, defense counsel's failure to 

move to have the pictures of J.A.'s cell phone excluded cannot form the basis for an Lr!effective 

as~istance of counsel claim. 
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We affirm Chenault's conviction. 

A majority of the panel having detennined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports but will instead be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

-7--~1 
Lee, J. 

We concur: 

24~Htm. 1. 
Sutton,J~ 
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